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The Past Year’s Top SEC  
Enforcement Events 

ANDREW N. VoLLMER, DouGLAS J. DAViSoN, AND HEAtHER MoWELL

The authors examine the most significant enforcement events brought by the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s Division of Enforcement during 

the past year. 

The past year was an eventful one for the division of enforcement at 
the u.S. Securities and exchange commission (“Sec”).  This article 
reviews the top Sec enforcement events of 2012.1 

enforcement trends in fY 2012

 The Sec division of enforcement filed 734 enforcement actions in fis-
cal year 2012, one shy of the 735 actions filed in fiscal year 2011.2  approxi-
mately 20 percent of the actions were filed in investigations that the Sec 
designated as national priority cases, meaning that the Sec had classified 
these matters as the most important and complex.3  among the actions filed, 
134 related to broker dealers, an area that has seen increased activity over the 
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past three fiscal years with a 60-percent increase between FY 2010 and FY 
2011 (an increase from 70 to 112 actions), and a 19-percent increase from 
FY 2011 to FY 2012 (an increase from 112 to 134 actions).4  
 in addition, the Sec continued to focus on delinquent filings (127 ac-
tions) and insider trading (58 actions).5  when combining the 58 insider 
trading actions filed in FY 2012 with those filed in FY 2011 (57) and FY 
2010 (53), this period represents the highest number of insider trading ac-
tions filed by the Sec within any three consecutive years.6  in contrast, ac-
tions related to securities offerings experienced a marked decline of almost 40 
percent from FY 2011(decreasing from 124 to 89 actions).7  

sec LitiGation cHaLLenGes

 in 2012, the Sec failed to secure a favorable outcome in three cases 
litigated against individuals.  in its case against Brian Stoker, the Sec alleged 
that Mr. Stoker, a former mid-level citigroup executive, violated securities 
laws by failing to inform investors that the bank had selected poor-perform-
ing assets for a cdo and that citigroup was shorting the same assets.8  in 
July 2012, a federal jury found in favor of Mr. Stoker, while noting that the 
“verdict should not deter the Sec from continuing to investigate the finan-
cial industry… .”9  
 Shortly thereafter, in november 2012, the Sec dismissed with prejudice 
its suit against edward Steffelin, a former executive of GSc capital corpora-
tion.10  Similar to the claims alleged against Mr. Stoker, the Sec claimed that 
Mr. Steffelin failed to inform investors through marketing materials that the 
hedge fund that helped select assets underlying a cdo had also shorted a 
substantial portion of the assets.11  
 Finally, in november 2012, a federal jury found in favor of Bruce Bent 
Sr. and Bruce Bent ii, both managers of the reserve Management Fund, on 
all claims of civil fraud.12  The Sec had accused the Bents of lying to inves-
tors and fund trustees in attempts to stop a run on the reserve Fund after the 
September 2008 bankruptcy of lehman Brothers.13  despite finding in favor 
of the Bents on the civil fraud charges, the jury found Bruce Bent ii liable for 
negligently violating Section 17(a)(2) or (3) of the Securities act.  
 Following these three cases, the Sec’s ability to litigate against individu-
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als came under fire.  in particular, John coffee critiqued the Sec’s regular 
practice of not suing individuals at large financial institutions, the Sec’s fre-
quent losses litigating against individuals when the agency breaks free of its 
regular practice, and the declining settlement values with institutions and 
defendants.14  coffee’s proposed solution was for the Sec to retain private 
counsel on a contingent-fee basis for large cases that involve complex institu-
tional structures and multiple actors. 
 The Sec’s robert Khuzami and George canellos disagreed with cof-
fee’s assessment of the Sec’s enforcement division and the proposed rem-
edy.15  in a January 2013 article, Khuzami and canellos asserted that coffee 
inaccurately stated the median Sec settlement amount, was incorrect that 
the Sec rarely brought cases against individuals, and mistakenly focused on 
cases that did not represent the Sec’s litigation success.  in support of the 
latter two points, the article noted that the Sec did not charge individual 
defendants in only eight cases related to the financial crisis, and that the Sec 
had won its case against 23 out of 24 defendants who went to trial in FY 
2012.16

aPPeLLate court decisions affectinG sec enforcement:  
SEC v. Apuzzo & SEC v. BArtEk

 Two notable 2012 decisions came from the courts of appeals for the 
Second and Fifth circuits.  in SEC v. Apuzzo, the Second circuit clarified 
that to prove one of the requisite elements of aiding and abetting liability — 
that the defendant “substantially assisted” the violation — the Sec does not 
need to allege that a defendant proximately or directly caused a securities law 
violation.17  instead, in order to satisfy this element, the Sec must establish 
that the defendant associated himself with the venture, participated in it as 
something that he wished to bring about, and sought by his action to make 
it succeed.18  The Second circuit held that the Sec had satisfied this burden 
by alleging that the defendant, Joseph apuzzo, formerly the cFo of Terex 
corp., was aware of and actively participated in the fraudulent accounting 
scheme orchestrated by the former cFo of united rentals, inc., one of Ter-
ex’s customers.19  
 There are two key takeaways from Apuzzo.  
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 First, it is unclear whether the test applied by the Second circuit — that 
an aider and abettor must consciously and actively assist in the specific vio-
lation — eases the Sec’s pleading standard for aiding and abetting claims.  
while some commentators have asserted that the court applied a more le-
nient pleading standard, this may not be correct in light of the Second cir-
cuit’s application of the standard and discussion of the Sec’s allegations, 
which alleged a high degree of knowledge and active participation on the part 
of the defendant.  
 Second, Apuzzo highlights the potential risks a third party doing business 
with a publicly reporting company faces, especially in light of the Sec only 
having to plead “recklessness” instead of “knowing” substantial assistance to 
another under Section 20(e) of the Securities and exchange act of 1934, as 
amended by dodd-Frank.  
 in SEC v. Bartek, the Sec sought remedial relief that included permanent 
injunctions, civil penalties, and officer and director bars against defendants 
accused of backdating stock options.20  The district court granted summary 
judgment for the defendants, holding that all of the remedies constituted 
“penalties” and were outside of the five-year statute of limitations provided by 
28 u.S.c. § 2462.  
 The Fifth circuit affirmed, first finding that the discovery rule does not 
apply and that the limitations period begins to run on the date of violation.21  
 Second, the court held that the sought-after remedies were punitive in 
nature because they “would have a stigmatizing effect and long-lasting reper-
cussions”, and failed to “address[] past harm allegedly caused by the defen-
dants [or]…address the prevention of future harm in light of the minimal 
likelihood of similar conduct in the future.”22  The Fifth circuit affirmed the 
dismissal of the case because the claims were brought outside of the five-year 
period.  
 The Bartek decision accurately captures the punitive nature of some in-
junctions in Sec enforcement cases and director and officer bars, and, going 
forward, may reasonably limit the Sec’s ability to seek such relief years after 
the alleged misconduct.
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judiciaL deveLoPments on insider tradinG:  SEC v. oBuS & 
uS v. ContoriniS

 in SEC v. Obus, the Second circuit examined the scienter requirement as 
it applies to the tipper, the first-level tippee, and any subsequent tippee who 
either trades or further relays the information.23  
 regarding the tipper, the court held that scienter is part of the first three 
of the four required elements for insider trading:  “(1) tip (2) material non-
public information (3) in breach of a fiduciary duty of confidentiality owed 
to shareholders (classical theory) or the source of the information (misappro-
priation theory) … .”24  
 regarding the first and second element, the tipper must deliberately tip 
and know, or be reckless in not knowing, that the tipped information is both 
non-public and material.  The same scienter standard applies for the third 
element, in that the tipper must know, or be reckless in not knowing, that 
tipping the information violates a confidence.25  
 with respect to the first-level tippee, the person must know that the in-
formation is material and non-public and that by “trading on the information 
the tippee is a participant in the tippers’ breach of fiduciary duty.”26  in estab-
lishing the requisite scienter for both elements, the Second circuit attempted 
to square the “knows or should know” standard applied in Dirks v. SEC,27 
which resembles a negligence standard, with Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder,28 
which held that negligence does not satisfy the scienter requirement.29  To do 
this, the Second circuit explained that the tippee must know or have a reason 
to know that the tipper breached a duty by providing the confidential infor-
mation (applying Dirks’ negligence standard), and “intentionally or recklessly 
traded while in knowing possession of that information.”30  
 The same scienter standards apply to the final tippee.  while Obus is 
helpful in that the court clarifies the application of scienter to the elements 
of tipper liability, applying the holding to tippee liability may prove difficult 
because of the different, yet intertwined, degrees of scienter. 
 in U.S. v. Contorinis, the Second circuit determined whether jury in-
structions provided in a criminal insider trading case accurately defined non-
public information.31  in concluding that the instructions adequately con-
veyed the standard, the court confirmed that information from insiders, even 
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if that information is consistent with rumors or press reports, is material and 
nonpublic because the insider information is “sufficiently more reliable, and 
…alters the mix by confirming the rumor or reports.”32  
 in addition, the Second circuit stressed that the key inquiry is whether 
the information is publicly available, a standard that is not necessarily the 
same as whether the information is widely disseminated.  in the jury instruc-
tions, the district court explained how information could be publicly avail-
able without being widely disseminated:  “Sometimes a corporation is willing 
to make information available to securities analysts, prospective investors, or 
members of the press who ask for it even though it may never have appeared 
in any newspaper publication or other publication.  Such information would 
be public.”33  
 The court of appeals seemingly agreed with the instruction, explaining 
further that information “is also deemed public if it is known only by a few 
securities analysts or professional investors.  This is so because their trading 
will set a share price incorporating such information.”34   

sec wHistLeBLower ProGram

 under Section 922 of the dodd-Frank wall Street reform and con-
sumer protection act, the Sec is directed to make a monetary award where 
the Sec successfully brings an enforcement action imposing sanctions of 
over $1,000,000 as a result of an individual voluntarily providing original 
information.35  The awards, which are required to be 10-30 percent of the 
monetary sanctions collected, are paid from the Sec’s investor protection 
Fund.  
 in november 2012, the Sec released the annual report on the dodd-
Frank whistleblower program, which covered the first full year of the pro-
gram.36  in FY 2012, the Sec received 3,001 tips.37  The most common 
complaint categories reported by whistleblowers were corporate disclosures 
and financials (547 tips, 18.2 percent), offering fraud (465 tips, 15.5 per-
cent), manipulation (457 tips, 15.2 percent), and insider trading (190 tips, 
6.3 percent).38  Tips were received from residents of all 50 states, with the 
largest number coming from california (435 tips), new York (246 tips), and 
Florida (202 tips).39  
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 The Sec made its first award under the program in FY 2012.40  as a 
result of the whistleblower’s information, the Sec stopped an ongoing multi-
million dollar fraud and obtained a judgment involving over $1 million in 
sanctions.41  at the end of the fiscal year, the Sec had collected $150,000 of 
the judgment, and provided the whistleblower with 30 percent of the amount 
collected, the maximum payment allowed.  

sec cooPeration initiative

 in May 2011, the Sec entered into its first-ever deferred prosecution 
agreement (“dpa”) as part of its cooperation initiative.  in July 2012, the 
Sec entered into its second dpa.  The agreement was with the amish Help-
ing Fund (“aHF”), a nonprofit that offered and sold contracts to investors 
within the amish community.42  
 according to the agreement, the offering memorandum for these invest-
ment contracts failed to reflect changes that had occurred since the inception 
of the fund in 1995, including the fund’s history, the fund’s cash reserves, 
the use of investor funds, and the ability of investors to redeem their invest-
ments.43  The Sec entered into the dpa as a result of aHF’s immediate co-
operation and the significant remedial measures it undertook after it became 
aware of its misconduct, including updating its offering memorandum.44  as 
of May 2011, no fund investors had realized any losses, and almost no inves-
tors accepted the aHF’s offer to rescind the contracts.45  
 in addition, the Sec declined to charge credit Suisse and Morgan Stanley 
because of the entities’ cooperation with the Sec in two unrelated matters.  
 in February 2012, the Sec charged four investment bankers and traders 
at credit Suisse Group for engaging in a scheme to fraudulently overstate 
the prices of subprime bonds in 2007 and 2008.46  The press release stated 
that the Sec’s decision not to charge credit Suisse was influenced by several 
factors, including: the isolated nature of the wrongdoing, credit Suisse’s im-
mediate self-reporting to the Sec and public disclosure of corrected financial 
results, credit Suisse voluntarily terminating the four investment bankers and 
implementing enhanced internal controls to prevent a recurrence of the mis-
conduct, and credit Suisse providing the Sec timely access to witnesses and 
evidence.47 
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 in addition, in april 2012, the Sec announced that it was bringing a 
settled enforcement action against a Morgan Stanley employee who allegedly 
violated the Foreign corrupt practices act, as well as other securities laws.48  
The release indicated that the Sec would not charge Morgan Stanley because 
it “cooperated with the Sec’s inquiry and conducted a thorough internal 
investigation to determine the scope of the improper payments and other 
misconduct involved.”49  

sec and doj reLease fcPa Guide

 in november 2012, the enforcement division of the Sec and the crimi-
nal division of the u.S. department of Justice published the long-awaited 
resource Guide to the u.S. Foreign corrupt practices act.50  The Guide 
covers an expansive set of topics, including the scope and application of the 
Fcpa’s anti-bribery and accounting provisions, distinctions between proper 
and improper gifts, travel and entertainment expenses, and hallmarks of ef-
fective compliance programs. 
 in addition, the Guide contains several hypotheticals used to illustrate 
Fcpa jurisdiction, appropriate gifts, travel and entertainment expenditures, 
successor liability, and the due diligence required to properly vet consultants, 
distributors and local partners. 

“neitHer admit nor denY” settLements

 in January 2012, director of enforcement Khuzami announced that the 
Sec had modified its “neither admit nor deny” approach for cases involving 
criminal convictions or other circumstances where the defendant has admit-
ted violations of the law.51  in such cases, the settlement agreement does not 
provide that the defendant “neither admits nor denies” the allegation, and 
instead, recites the facts and nature of the admission, criminal conviction, or 
criminal non-prosecution or deferred prosecution agreement.52  
 The Sec expects the change in policy to only affect a minority of cases 
that involve related admissions or criminal convictions.53  For 2012, the mi-
nority of cases affected by the policy change included the Sec’s suit against 
Goldman, Sachs & co., where Goldman admitted to the factual findings in 
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its consent order with the Massachusetts Securities division regarding Gold-
man’s trade huddles,54 and the Sec’s settlement with Bp.  
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